90465-1

#### No. 69929-6

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Testamentary Trust of Giuseppe Desimone,

DALE COLLINS, a married man,

Petitioner,

vs.

BNY MELLON, N.A., JOSEPH R. DESIMONE and RICHARD L. DESIMONE, JR., in their capacities as co-Trustees of the TESTAMENTARY TRUST OF GIUSEPPE DESIMONE,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

#### SOMERS TAMBLYN KING PLLC

By: Hans P. Juhl WSBA No. 33116

### A. Identity of Petitioner.

Petitioner Dale Collins asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

#### **B.** Decision Below.

1

Division One filed its decision affirming the trial court's summary judgment dismissing petitioner's claims on March 31, 2014. (Appendix A) Division One denied a timely motion to publish its decision on May 5, 2014. (Appendix B)

#### C. Issue Presented for Review.

Whether petitioner is an income beneficiary of a testamentary trust that left property in trust for the testator's "issue (my grandchildren)" when petitioner would be included within the class of income beneficiaries when the class could be ascertained?

#### D. Statement of the Case.

#### 1. Facts on Summary Judgment.

Giuseppe Desimone and his wife owned and operated the Pike Place Market and had significant other real property holdings in south King County. In 1943, Giuseppe executed a will, drafted by his attorney Harold Shefelman, that created a trust (the "Desimone trust") funded by half of his extensive community estate. (CP 40-52) The will instructed that the income of the Desimone trust be annually divided among Giuseppe's five children, who were all named the will. (CP 42) Giuseppe's will further instructed that when one of his children died, leaving "issue (my grandchildren)," then that child's income share would pass to his grandchildren, and that when a grandchild died, leaving "issue (my great-grandchildren)," then the grandchild's share would pass to the grandchild's "issue, my greatgrandchildren." (CP 42)

The corpus of the Desimone trust – largely real estate that Giuseppe had directed his trustees never to sell – was not to be distributed until 21 years following the death of the last survivor "of my said children and of those of my grandchildren who shall be born at the time of my death," when the trust was to be divided, per stirpes, "one share to each male issue and one-half share to each female issue." (CP 43) Giuseppe's will thus provided for his estate to be maintained in trust for the maximum time possible under the rule against perpetuities at the time. *See Denny v. Hyland*, 162 Wash. 68, 72-73, 297 Pac. 1083 (1931).

Giuseppe died in 1946, three years after he executed this will. Giuseppe's will did not define the terms "issue" or "grandchildren." In 1930, this Court in *Bowles v. Denny*, 155 Wash. 535, 541, 285 Pac. 422 (1930), had held that "in its general sense, unconfined by any indication of intention to the contrary, the word 'issue' includes in its meaning all descendants." The statutory intestacy scheme for real estate at the time, on the other hand, defined "issue" as "lawful lineal descendants:"

٩

Words "Issue" and "Real Estate" defined. The word "issue," *as used in this chapter*, includes all the lawful lineal descendants of the ancestor, and the words "real estate," include all lands, tenements, and hereditaments, and all rights thereto, and all interest therein possessed and claimed in fee simple, or for the life of a third person.

Rem. Rev. §1354 (emphasis added). Giuseppe's will did not by its terms limit the Desimone trust's beneficiaries to his "lawful lineal descendants," nor otherwise incorporate or reference the statutes governing the intestate transfer of real estate.

Petitioner Dale Collins alleges that he is Giuseppe Desimone's grandson – a fact Dale learned in 2008. (CP 33) Dale was born in April 1949 as a result of an affair between Giuseppe's son Mondo, who operated a flower stand in the Pike Place Market, and Dale's mother Josephine, who was working in the Desimones' flower stand in the summer of 1948. (CP 31-33, 64-65) As both the trial and appellate courts' decisions recognize (App. A at 3; CP 36), Dale's assertions create issues of fact, and must be taken as true in this review of summary judgment dismissing his claims.

Mondo died in 1996. (App. A at 3) By the terms of Giuseppe's will creating the Desimone trust, only then could the class of income beneficiaries defined as "issue (my grandchildren)" be ascertained. Twenty years before Mondo's death, the real estate intestacy statute, defining "issue" as "lawful lineal descendants," had been amended to eliminate any distinction between children based on the marital status of their parents. RCW 11.04.081, *as amended by* Laws of 1975-76, 2d ex. Session, ch. 42, § 24. In other words, by the time of Mondo's death, Dale (could he prove paternity) would be considered the "issue" of Mondo and Giuseppe Desimone.

#### 2. Decisions Below.

3

The trial court dismissed petitioner's claims on summary judgment based on respondents' argument that the use of the term "issue" precluded Dale from being a beneficiary of the Desimone trust because the intestacy scheme for real estate in 1943 defined "issue" as "lawful lineal descendants." (CP 125) The Court of Appeals affirmed on the same ground, reasoning that "issue" was a "technical" term (App. A at 6), and that "if Giuseppe intended to include *all* issue, without regard to marital status of parents, his lawyer could have used different language in the will:"

.

Given the technical language in the will and the surrounding circumstances at the time Giuseppe executed it in 1943, we conclude that his use of the term "issue" was intended to limit the income beneficiaries of the trust to his grandchildren of parents married to each other. Because Dale is not within this class of beneficiaries, he is not entitled to any income from the trust.

(App. A at 8) (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals rejected petitioner's argument that the law in effect when the class of income beneficiaries can be ascertained must govern the interpretation of the undefined term "issue" in the will on the grounds that the real estate intestacy statutes when Giuseppe executed his will defined "issue" as "lawful lineal descendants," and Giuseppe's intent to exclude descendants born out of wedlock was thus clear. (App. A at 6-7)

E. Argument Why This Court Should Accept Review.

1. Division One's decision conflicts with Division Three's decision in *Sollid* that the law when the class of income beneficiaries is ascertained must govern the interpretation of a trust. (RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4))

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Matter of Sollid*, 32 Wn. App. 349, 647 P.2d 1033 (1982), which applied the law in effect when adopted children made claims to benefit from a trust, rather than the law when the settlor executed the trust, to include as beneficiaries individuals who would not have been included when the trust was created. Because these conflicting rules of construction also raise an issue of substantial public interest, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4).

*Matter of Sollid* held that a testator is "presumed to understand that a statute fixing the rights of an adopted child would be subject to change." 32 Wn. App. at 357. As a result, Division Three applied the probate code enacted in 1965, which expanded the definition of "issue" to include adopted children, to ascertain the members of a class of beneficiaries in a trust created before 1965 – when, like children born out of wedlock, adopted children would have been excluded from the statutory definition of "issue." *Matter of Sollid*, 32 Wn. App. at 353-54.

In this case, Division One essentially held that children born out of wedlock are not entitled to the same protection as adopted children that is now afforded to both under our statutes and by the rule of construction adopted in *Matter of Sollid*, erroneously distinguishing *Matter of Sollid* on the grounds that "Dale is not an adopted child." (App. A at 6) But *Matter of Sollid* did not turn on the nature of the parent/child relationship, but on whether "the settlor was presumed to understand that a statute" used to define a class of beneficiaries "would be subject to change." 32 Wn. App. at 357.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals decision in this case ignores the striking parallels between the laws governing the "legitimacy" of adopted children and children born out of wedlock. Just as the legislature amended the intestacy statutes to eliminate the notion that adopted "strangers to the blood" should be treated less favorably than "natural" children, so too the legislature amended the intestacy statutes so that "illegitimate" children would not be discriminated against because of their parents' marital status. RCW 11.04.081; see also Weber v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co., 406 U.S. 164, 175, 92 S.Ct. 1400, 1406, 31 L.Ed.2d 768 (1972) ("imposing disabilities on the illegitimate child is contrary to the basic concept of our system that legal burdens should bear some relationship to individual responsibility or wrongdoing"); Annan v. Wilmington Trust Co., 559 A.2d 1289, 1293 (Del. 1989) (discussed fully infra at 9-11) (rejecting argument that "the longstanding tradition consistently excluding illegitimates from inheritance rights distinguishes such situations from adopted children cases").

7

Respondents and the courts below relied upon the statutory definition of "issue" for purposes of real estate intestacy to divine Giuseppe Desimone's intent to exclude children born out of wedlock from the Desimone trust. The Court of Appeals' artificial distinction between the shared history of discrimination against adopted and illegitimate children, and its rejection of the reasoning of *Matter of Sollid* on that basis, also creates an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4).

2. Division One's decision is inconsistent with Division Two's decision in *Cook* applying current law to determine the consequence of illegitimacy. (RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4))

Applying current law to interpret the provisions of a will or trust is not "entirely speculative," as the Court of Appeals held. (App. A at 6) It is certainly no more speculative than defining a term as it was defined, "as used in this chapter" only, in the real property intestacy statutes, despite case law of the same era defining the term more expansively. Yet that is precisely what the courts below did in divining Giuseppe's "clear intent" in using the words "issue (my grandchildren)" to define a class of income beneficiaries that could only be ascertained in the future. (App. A at

"Here, given that 'issue' only included '*lawful* lineal 7: descen[dan]ts' under the intestacy statutes in 1943, the use of the term 'issue' in Giuseppe's will included only 'lawful issue' or grandchildren born of parents married to each other." (emphasis in original)) Rather, using the law when a beneficiary class can be ascertained to determine the members of the class gives effect to the testator's presumed intent – wholly unrebutted here – that the class of beneficiaries will evolve with the law during the life of a trust. Matter of Sollid, 32 Wn. App. at 357; see also Annan v. Wilmington Trust Co., 559 A.2d at 1292 (discussed at Opening Br. 10-11) (applying current statutory definition of "issue" and holding that "issue" included illegitimate children because "a settlor, unless he indicates otherwise, expects that the laws governing trusts will change and that the trust he created will be subject to those changes").

The decision in *Matter of Sollid* reflects the "modern rule" that "the applicable law to the determining of a class following the termination of a life interest is the law as it exists on the date of ascertainment, unless the documents themselves demonstrate a clear intent on the part of the creator to limit the class as it was defined by law on the date of execution of the trusts." *Annan v.* 

Wilmington Trust Co., 559 A.2d at 1292, quoting Haskell v. Wilmington Trust Co., 304 A.2d 53, 54 (Del. 1973). In Annan, the Supreme Court of Delaware applied the current law governing inheritance, and not that in effect when a trust was created in 1932, to determine whether a settlor's illegitimate children were "issue" who would take at the conclusion of the life income estate created by the trust.

As with Giuseppe's will, the *Annan* "trust instruments [did] not indicate whether illegitimate children fall under the definition of 'issue.' The term [was] not defined in the documents." *Annan v. Wilmington Trust Co.*, 559 A.2d at 1292 (footnote omitted). The *Annan* Court therefore relied on same rule of construction that governed Division Three's decision in *Matter of Sollid:* "that a settlor, unless he indicates otherwise, expects that the laws governing trusts will change and that the trust he created will be subject to those changes." *Annan v. Wilmington Trust Co.*, 559 A.2d at 1293.

The Court of Appeals rejected the reasoning of *Annan*, first because "Dale does not cite a Washington case to show that our courts follow this 'modern rule'" (App. A at 17), and second on the grounds that the Delaware Supreme Court in *Annan* applied the "modern rule" only after it determined that the trust instrument and the surrounding circumstances did not reveal the testator's intent. (App. A at 17) But the only "surrounding circumstance" relied upon in Division One is the definition of "issue" in the real estate intestacy statute (App. A at 6-7) – despite the more expansive common law definition of the term, during the same era, in *Bowles v. Denny*, 155 Wash. at 541. In reality, the use of "issue" in *Annan* is indistinguishable from its use in Giuseppe's will, and this Court should accept review to definitively adopt the "modern rule" applied in *Matter of Sollid* and *Annan*.

The Court of Appeals also characterized the use of current law to ascertain a class of beneficiaries as a "retroactive" application of RCW 11.04.081, which in 1976 removed from the intestacy statute any distinction based on the marital status of a child's parents. (App. A at 15) But looking to current law to ascertain a class of beneficiaries at the time it comes into existence is not "retroactive" application of law. *See, e.g., Estate of Haviland,* 177 Wn.2d 68, 75 ¶ 10, 301 P.3d 31 (2013) ("[a] statute operates prospectively when the precipitating event for the application of the statute occurs after the effective date of the statute, even though the precipitating event had its origin in a situation existing prior to the enactment of the statute.") (citation omitted). Moreover, Division One's assertion that "Dale fails to cite any case where RCW 11.04.081 was held to have any retroactive application" (App. A at 15) is incorrect. Division One's decision in fact conflicts with Division Two's decision in *Estate of Cook*, 40 Wn. App. 326, 698 P.2d 1076 (1985), which petitioner cited below in arguing that RCW 11.04.081 "has been freely applied to persons born before its enactment." (Opening Br. 12)

Division Two applied RCW 11.04.081 to determine the consequence of illegitimacy to inheritance from a woman born out of wedlock in Ohio in 1909, almost 70 years before RCW 11.04.081 was enacted, in *Estate of Cook,* 40 Wn. App. at 327. In doing so, the *Cook* court rejected the application of Ohio's more restrictive requirements, which required (as did Washington's statute, before 1976), written acknowledgement by the father of an illegitimate child's paternity. *Estate of Cook,* 40 Wn. App. at 328 n. 3, 329.

Recognizing that the Court must look to the law applicable when a class of income beneficiaries is ascertained is not a matter of retroactive application of a statute, and is inconsistent with Division Two's decision in *Estate of Cook* and with this Court's reasoning in *Estate of Haviland*. As *Matter of Sollid* held, there is a

12

presumption, unrebutted in this case, that a testator intends that the construction of his testamentary instruments – including the determination of who is a beneficiary in a class that will be ascertained long after the testator has died – will evolve with the law. This Court should accept review because Division One's decision conflicts with these cases and principles, RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4), reverse, and definitively adopt this "modern rule" of construction.

#### 3. Petitioner preserves his fee request. (RAP 18.1(b))

Petitioner preserves his request for fees under RCW 11.96A.150(1).

#### F. Conclusion.

This Court should accept review, reverse, and remand for trial on the issue of petitioner's paternity.