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

IV. Argument against Review

Summary Introduction:

Inasmuch as the Division One Court of Appeals correctly ruled in a forthright manner regarding a simple will interpretation matter, about a Will that was executed in 1943, and correctly applied standard principles of will construction, this Court does not need to review this case. At the court of appeal level, Dale Collins' summary judgment denial was affirmed; the Co-trustees and Daniel parties' grants of summary judgments were affirmed; all Dale Collins' claims against the Testamentary Trust of Giuseppe's were dismissed, with prejudice, affirmed. One hundred years of case law, statutory law, secondarylaw sources, which the Division One Court of Appeals considered, straightforwardly show Dale Collins cannot be a beneficiary under the trust created under Giuseppe's Will of 1943. The Respondents should not have to suffer through more court time over this stale and baseless claim; incurring stillmore attorney fees. Since there are no material conflicts between this recent Division One Court of Appeal ruling and other court of appeal courts, contrary to Petitioner's statements, this petition for review should be denied. And furthermore, since the Petitioner presented no novel or unique arguments (but instead, a host of arguments that often misapplied interpretation of Giuseppe's Will, the laws, and other authority sources) his petition for review should be denied because there is no "substantial" public interest issue for this Court to decide.

A. The Division One Court of Appeal's decision does not conflict with Division Three's *Matter of Sollid*, 32 Wn. App. 349 (1982) for many reasons; so this Court need not review under RAP 13.4 (b) (2) & (4).

Petitioner's arguments regarding the *Sollid* adoption case are not relevant for many reasons; most importantly, because the Petitioner cannot cite any WA case law that has merged "adoption rights" of persons with "illegitimate rights" of persons. Further, when the Will was executed in 1943, the already long-standing "illegitimate rights" statute (RRS 1345)

had been in place as written for nearly 70 years with the applicable portion of this statute remaining untouched for another three decades. Pointedly, this statute has never been applied retroactively in WA case law.

First, a concise summary of *Sollid* case: In the *Matter of Sollid*, the Division Three court had to consider whether adopted children were income beneficiaries for their adoptive grandparents' trust. In 1947, R.K. and Maria Sollid created an irrevocable trust, naming their three children... At the same time, an executed will created a testamentary trust with Maria Sollid the life income beneficiary and trustee. When Maria Sollid would pass, the 1947 trust instrument would become the operative instrument. Pertinent parts of the irrevocable trust provided:

"Upon the death of last of the three named beneficiaries (children), then the corpus of the trust shall be delivered and paid to the then surviving (grandchildren), including lineal descendants of three beneficiaries, per stirpes" If there be no surviving issue or descendants, then the Trustees shall distribute, deliver and pay the trust property to the heirs at law of the respective Donors according to the law of descent."²

Next, the Court of Appeals recites about what The Division Three court then decided:

"The court concluded 'issue', under the current law, included 'all the lawful lineal descendants of the ancestor and all lawfully adopted children.' Accordingly, the court applied the then current statute and concluded that the adopted children were 'issue'". (See Division One's Opinion @ 14)

² In re Sollid, 32 Wash. App. 349, 647 P.2d, 1033 (1982)

The Division Three *Sollid* court gave many reasons why they did this, among which was:

"Although possibly not squarely on point, nevertheless, recourse is had toward laws of inheritance by adopted children as bearing in the settlor's/testator's intent."

Then this Division Three court tells how the adoptions laws had changed in 1943 (five years before the *Sollid* trust was executed) to allow adopted kindred of adoptee to inherit from the adoptee. This court then concluded:

"It would seem fair that if the adoptive grandparent could inherit from the adoptees, the converse should be true"

Finally, the court concluded that a part of *Sollid's* trust instrument indicated settlors' intent, although not "specifically." Quoting from the trust this court recites:

"(T)he said term shall include their **heirs** or successors in interest as provided in this trust agreement as and <u>when</u> such heirs or successors in interest may acquire the rights of either or any of said beneficiaries."⁵ (my emphasis)

And the Court of Appeal's Opinion discusses that this Division

Three court's other reason was as follows:

"The settlor was presumed to understand that a statute fixing the rights of an adopted child would be subject to change; thus, statute requiring adopted children be treated as trust beneficiaries was retroactively applied" (See Opinion @ 14).

³ Id. @ 352

⁴ id. @ 353

⁵ Id. @ 358

This Division One Court rightly declined to accept Dale's argument to apply the *Sollid ruling* to this instant case, as this case deals with an entirely different subject matter. It says:

"Dale argues that we should retroactively apply the liberalized statutes regarding grandchildren born of wedlock"... "Generally, statutes are presumed to have prospective application only. Dale fails to cite any case where RCW 11.04.081 was held to have any retroactive application. Additionally, Sollid and the cases it relies on involved adopted children. Dale is not an adopted child" (See Court of Appeal's Opinion @ 14, 15)

Also, in response to Dale Collins' Petition (@ 9), citing *Sollid* and *Annan v. Wilmington Trust Co*, 559 A.2d 1289, it is instructive for this Court to note the following:

Because the "illegitimate child, rights" statute (RRS 1345) had not changed in over 80 years by the time Giuseppe executed his Will in 1943, it is not reasonable to conclude that either Giuseppe or his lawyer presumed this pertinent probate statute would be changing anytime in the future since no science existed at the time to conclusively prove father's paternity. (CP 289-304 @ 8 &9)

Back in the 40s, this particular statute required for any non-marital person to take from his alleged father's *kindred's* estate, that he needed: 1) father's written acknowledgement, witnessed; 2) his parents to intermarry and adopt him. None of these proofs of paternity exist for Dale Collins; this is undisputed. So, unlike the adoption statues which were being

revised, as the *Sollid* court noted, the Descent intestate statute *(RRS 1345) remained the same in 1943 when Giuseppe executed his Will.

Thus, this Court need not review, per Discretionary rules 13.4 (b) (2) (4), as there exists no conflict between the Division One *Desimone*Court of Appeal decision and the Division Three *Sollid* Court of Appeal decision.

*(See: Danieli parties' Response Brief's appendix to trace the statutory history of RRS 1345)

B. Dale Collins' rebuttal to Court of Appeal's Opinion regarding "illegitimate rights" statute (RCW 11.04.081), relative to the Division II Cook case, is not in point; as no conflict between these court of appeal cases exist. For this reason, this Court does not need, under RAP 13.4 (b) (2) & (4), to review this case.

Contrary to Dale Collins assertions about how the Division One Court of Appeal is incorrect, relative to how the Division Two Court of Appeal applied "illegitimate rights" statute (RCW 11.04.081), the Cook case *Estate of Cook, 40 Wn. App. 326, 698 P 2d. 1076 (1985)* is not in point for the argument proposed by Dale Collins in his *Petition For Review.* (See: Petition @ 12; first paragraph).

There are no material conflicts between the Division One Court of Appeal's decision and the Division Two *Court* of Appeal's decision; as the former ruling concerned finding testator's intent by applying standard

rules of will construction, while the latter one concerned finding which set of "heirs-at-law" would take in an intestate estate, as required by state law. [Giuseppe's Will nowhere indicates that he wants "heirs –at-law" to partake of his bounty.]

In the *Cook* case, the decedent, Julia Cook, born illegitimate in Ohio in 1909, died intestate in 1980 with a Washington estate, leaving no spouse and no lineal descendants. First at issue: would the decedent's estate descend, per the requirement in the intestate statute (RCW 11.04.015), in 1980, to the paternal heirs or the material heirs? The paternal heirs were closer in kinship than the material heirs. So the case then turned on determining decedent's paternity. The material heirs brought forth a witness to say Ms. Cook's mother did not meet the alleged father until after Ms. Cook was born. The paternal heirs produced a delayed birth certificate to prove who the father was. The material heirs conceded that if the paternal heirs could prove paternity, they would lose.

The *Cook court* next applied the "illegitimate rights" statute (RCW 11.04.081) *prospectively* to determine the correct standard for proof of paternity. At no time did the *Cook* court say it was applying retroactively the statutory requirement for determining a paternity issue; whereas, the *Sollid court* expressly stated they were, regarding an adoption matter.

And, of course, because of *Sollid*, Dale Collins has consistently argued

that the courts should apply the descent statutes retroactively in this specific case. (CP 11-29 @ 18)

For a hundred years in WA case law this "illegitimate child, rights of" statute (formerly RRS 1345) has been applied prospectively, not retroactively.

[CP: 354-358 @ pg 1, citing: Supreme Court's In re Rohrer's Estate, 22Wash. 2d 135 (1900); Supreme Court's Wasmund v Wasmund, 90 Wash. 274 (1916); Supreme Court's In re Baker's Estate, 49 Wash. 2d 609 (1956); Supreme Court's In re Estate of H.A. Gand, 61 Wash 2d 135 (1962); Supreme Court's Pitzer v Union Bank of California, 141 Wn. 2d 539 (2000].

So these two divisional court of appeal cases are not at all in conflict. This Court, then, should not review the Division One Court of Appeal's decision because the Discretionary rules (13.4(b) (2) (4) do not apply.

C. Response to: Petitioner's continuing assertions that the *Bowles v Denny* case holds for the proposition that the common law "issue" term has a more inclusive meaning (one that included out of wedlock "issue") than the statutory definition that was in place in the same *era* that Giuseppe's Will was executed.

Petitioner Dale Collins, by relying on the Supreme Court Bowles case (*Bowles v Denny*, 155 Wash 535, 285 Pac. 422 (1930) attempts to mislead this Court by asserting that there was a more inclusive meaning to the term "issue" in common law, i.e., that illegitimates were included within its meaning. (See Petition @ 2, 3 & 11).

However, when the Bowles court, quoting another jurisdiction, said "in its general sense, unconfined by any indication to the contrary, this word includes in its meaning all descendants", it meant this in a completely different context, as the Court of Appeals rightly noted. (See Opinion @ 9).

But Dale Collins ignores directly addressing any rebuttal to the Court of Appeal's take on this, and plows through again with his misleading assertions in his Petition.

Authority sources from this era say otherwise:

In Black's Law Dictionary (3rd edition, 1933) it says, in pertinent part,
regarding "issue" definition:

"Descendants: All persons who have descended from a common ancestor...the word is commonly held to include only legitimate issue..." (my emphasis) (Black's Law: See Appendix A).

In Words and Phrases (1904 edition) it says, under "Illegitimate child" section:

"A devise to 'issue' means, prima facie, legitimate issue and an intention to include illegitimate issue must be deduced from the language itself, without resort to extrinsic evidence" ... See appendix B @ 3789 [Note: Words and Phrases, 1904 edition, lst, 2nd, 3rd series was mentioned in Editor's note within *Bowles v Denney case (1930)*]

In Page's Law Treaties on Wills (edition 1941) says:

"Issue is a word whose primary meaning, in absent anything to show a contrary intent, is that of legitimate lineal descendants indefinitely". (See Appendix C, Section 1027 @ 152) (See also: Vested Beneficiary's Brief @ 11&13)

D. The Court of Appeals did not err in its decision, citing WA supreme court cases (and one squarely on point out- of- state case) when it used applicable existing statutes at the time of the 1943 Will's execution, rather than consider applying statutes retroactively. And no exception to this general rule exists for this instant case. Sollid and out-of-state Delaware cases are not relevant.

First, although the Court of Appeal's Opinion cited more than a few WA state supreme court cases for its proposition that applicable statutes should be applied at the time of any will's execution, it also cited one squarely on point out-of-state supreme court case (*Powers v Wilkenson, 399 Mass. 650, 653-54 (1987*). In seeking relief on review, Petitioner Collins cites no WA Supreme Court cases under the Discretionary rule (See 13.4(b) (1). In fact, Dale Collins ignores trying to counter any of the Division One's salient points about these Supreme Court cases. (See Petition @ 5 & 8)

Second, Petitioner Dale Collins' arguments about how applicable statutes should be applied as of the "date of ascertainment" of when a beneficiary would step-in at a future date, rather than as of the "date of execution" of a will, are incorrect. (See: Petition @ 9-11) These lines of arguments by Collins are incorrect because they ironically fail to discuss the obvious fact that Giuseppe's intent nowhere indicates in his Will of 1943 that he wishes his "heir at law" or" "heirs" to take of his bounty

and have the laws of descent apply at a time in the future, in order to ascertain a pool of beneficiaries. For Giuseppe Desimone's Will (unlike what is found of the wills of the Sollids' and some of the Delaware parties), at his trust termination point, does not contain a substitution provision. He instead wishes his bounty go to his children's issue, per stirpes; and then if any of his children's' lines are gone, to his other children's "direct descendants". (See: Giuseppe Desimone's Will, @ Article 5) (my emphasis). The strong inference to be drawn from this is that Giuseppe had faith his direct descendants lines would not fail; and he did not wish any heirs- at-law to take and any applicable descent laws to apply at a future "date of ascertainment." So then, it would be purely speculative to presume that Giuseppe Desimone thought about how the pertinent Descent statutes would change in the future when nowhere does he say this thought, impliedly or expressly in his 1943 Will. (See: Court of Appeal's Opinion @, 16). (See also: Vested Beneficiary's Brief @, 23-25)

Thus, Petitioner Dale Collins retort that the Court of Appeal's Opinion is merely "divining" Giuseppe's intent is meritless. Sound reasoning was applied by the Division One court to determine testator's intent in this instant case. In fact, contrary to what Petitioner Dale Collins further argues @ 11, the Division One Court of Appeal did not just rely

upon "surrounding circumstances" to determine testator's intent. Yes, this

Division One did rely on "other authorities" and the Massachusetts

Supreme Court *Powers v Wilkenson* case; but it also relied on the language in the Will itself.

Regarding this latter point, the Division One court took cognizance of the fact the Giuseppe used the technical term "issue" (RRS 1354) no less than twenty times in his Will and that he had the aid of an attorney. So Giuseppe was presumed to know the laws at the time the Will was executed and how they would affect it. (See: Court of Appeal's Opinion @ 7 & 10) And since Giuseppe's Will mentions one Descent statute (the community property one, RRS 1342), it is logical to assume he knew of the other probate Descent statutes and how they would affect his Will. (Vested Beneficiary's Br @ 19)

E. Petitioner should not be allowed any attorney fees.

Inasmuch as Dale Collins did not prevail at the Division One Court of Appeal level, he cannot under RAP 18.1 (j) get his attorney fees.

V. Conclusion:

This Court should *not* accept review, or reverse the Division One's decision of March 31, 2014, as requested by Petitioner Dale Collins for relief. Nor should this court remand for trial the issue of Collins' paternity, as was also requested by Mr. Collins. None of Dale Collins' arguments have merit; nor do they meet any of the criteria needed for Discretionary review, under RAP 13.4 (b).